
Argyll and Bute Council
Comhairle Earra-Ghàidheal Agus Bhòid

Customer  Services
Executive Director:  Douglas Hendry

Kilmory, Lochgilphead, PA31 8RT
Tel:  01546 602127  Fax:  01546 604435

DX 599700 LOCHGILPHEAD
21 August 2018

NOTICE OF MEETING

A meeting of the ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC GROUP will be held in the COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD on TUESDAY, 28 AUGUST 2018 at 10:00 AM, which 
you are requested to attend.

Douglas Hendry
Executive Director of Customer Services

BUSINESS

1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE ARGYLL AND THE ISLANDS 
STRATEGIC GROUP HELD ON 29 MAY 2018 (Pages 3 - 6)

4. SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT - DRAFT DESCRIPTION OF ISLAND LIAISONS 
PARTNERS (Pages 7 - 14)
Report by Chief Executive

5. NATIONAL ISLANDS GROUP MEETING 
Verbal Update by Chief Executive

6. ISLANDS TRANSPORT GROUP 
Verbal Update by Chief Executive

7. UPDATE ON ISLANDS (SCOTLAND) ACT 
Verbal Update by Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services

8. TRANSPORT SCOTLAND'S VESSEL REPLACEMENT AND DEPLOYMENT PLAN 
- ANNUAL REPORT 2016 (Pages 15 - 60)
Update by Richard Hadfield, Transport Scotland

Public Document Pack



9. OUR ISLAND WASTE (Pages 61 - 70)
Report by Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services

FOR NOTING
10. FUEL POVERTY (TARGET, DEFINITION AND STRATEGY) (SCOTLAND) BILL 

(Pages 71 - 92)
Report by Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services

Argyll Islands Strategic Group

Councillor Robin Currie (Chair) Councillor Mary-Jean Devon
Councillor Anne Horn Councillor Sir Jamie McGrigor
Councillor Yvonne McNeilly Councillor Jean Moffat
Councillor Aileen Morton Councillor Elaine Robertson
Councillor Len Scoullar (Vice-Chair) Councillor Jim Lynch

Shirley MacLeod, Area Governance Manager

Contact: Lynsey Innis, Senior Committee Assistant; Tel:  01546 604338 



MINUTES of MEETING of ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC GROUP held in the COUNCIL 
CHAMBERS, KILMORY, LOCHGILPHEAD 

on TUESDAY, 29 MAY 2018 

Present: Councillor Robin Currie (Chair)

Councillor Anne Horn
Councillor Aileen Morton
Councillor Elaine Robertson

Councillor Len Scoullar
Councillor Jim Lynch

Attending: Shirley MacLeod, Area Governance Manager
Pippa Milne, Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services
Fergus Murray, Head of Economic Development and Strategic Transformation
Stuart Green, Corporate Support Manager

1. WELCOME AND APOLOGIES 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.

Apologies for absence were intimated on behalf of Councillors Sir Jamie McGrigor, 
Yvonne McNeilly and Jean Moffat.  

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interest intimated.  

3. MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 27 MARCH 2018 
The Minute of the meeting of the Argyll Islands Strategic Group held on 27 March 2018, 
was approved as a true record.  

4. INTRODUCTION OF/UPDATE ON SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT ISLAND LIAISON 
DIRECTORS 
The Corporate Support Manager provided information in relation to the appointment of the 
5 Scottish Government Island Liaison Directors for the Argyll and Bute area.  He advised 
that each had a personal link to the islands in some way and were directly responsible to 
the senior Civil Servant Donna Bell, whom they would report to on a quarterly basis.  Mr 
Green advised that although discussions were ongoing to establish the exact nature of 
their roles, the expectation was that they would link directly with the Chief Executive, the 
Argyll Island Strategic Group and the Community Planning Groups, however there would 
be a need to manage expectations to ensure that they are not drawn into issues at a local 
level.  Discussion took place in respect of the geography that each would cover, with Mr 
Green advising that one would be responsible for the island of Bute with two of the others 
taking responsibility for each of the Oban, Lorn and the Isles and the Mid Argyll, Kintyre 
and the Islands areas respectively.  Mr Green advised that it was expected that they 
would be introduced at the next meeting of the group, where they would outline their roles 
and responsibilities.  

Decision:

The group agreed to note the information provided.

Public Document PackPage 3 Agenda Item 3



5. UPDATE ON NATIONAL ISLANDS GROUP MEETING 
The Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services advised that there had 
been no meeting of the National Islands Group since July 2017, and that there had been 
no indication of a future meeting date at this time.  

Decision:

Having noted their disappointment at the lack of progress, the group requested that the 
Area Governance Manager write to the Chair of the National Islands Group enquiring as to 
when the next meeting is expected to take place.  

6. UPDATE ON ISLANDS TRANSPORT GROUP 
The Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services advised that there had 
been no formal meeting of the Islands Transport Group since July 2017.  She advised that 
the meeting which had been scheduled to take place in December 2017 had been 
postponed due to severe weather and had yet to be rearranged.  The group noted that 
meetings of the Islands Transport Group usually coincided with meetings of the National 
Islands Group due to the similar nature of the membership.  

Decision:

The group agreed to note the information provided.  

7. ISLANDS (SCOTLAND) BILL UPDATE 
The group gave consideration to a report providing an update in regard to the progress of 
the Islands (Scotland) Bill.  The Head of Economic Development and Strategic 
Transformation advised that following completion of Stage 2 of the Bill a number of 
amendments had been made.  He advised that one of the main amendments was the 
inclusion of the six local authorities with island interests as statutory consultees to the 
National Islands Plan, and advised that all amendments could be viewed at 
https://bb.parliament.scot/Legislation.  Discussion took place in respect of the expected 
timescales for the consideration of stage 3 of the Islands Bill and the possible resource 
implications as a result of the new legislation.      

Decision:

The group agreed that a progress report be brought to the next meeting of the group.    

(Ref:  Report by Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services, dated 29 
May 2018, submitted.)  

Councillor Morton joined the meeting at 2.25pm.  
.

8. TRANSPORT SCOTLAND'S VESSEL REPLACEMENT AND DEPLOYMENT 
PLAN 
The group gave consideration to a report outlining the progress regarding the Council’s 
marine infrastructure including the ports and/or routes at Port Askaig, Islay; Craignure, 
Mull; Lismore; Fionnphort to Iona and Tayinloan to Gigha.  The Head of Economic 

Page 4

https://bb.parliament.scot/Legislation


Development and Strategic Transformation agreed to feedback comments in relation to 
the proposed works at Rothesay to the Council’s Marine Operations Manager and provide 
an update to the group.  Discussion took place in respect of the expansion of port facilities 
and the deployment of the two new vessels, with the Executive Director of Development 
and Infrastructure outlining the need for a business case to establish whether it is 
financially sensible to take on a project of this nature if there will be no larger vessels to 
use it.  

Decision:  

The group:

1. agreed to note the contents of the report; and 
2. requested that the Area Governance Manager extend an invitation to Transport 

Scotland to attend the next meeting of the group to discuss the plan from their point 
of view.  

(Ref:  Report by Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services, dated 29 
May 2018, submitted.) 

9. ISLAY AND JURA SUMMIT UPDATE 
The group gave consideration to a report providing an update on the main findings of the 
Islay and Jura Summit that was held on the 4th of April 2018.  Members noted that the 
main action from the Summit related to the potential for establishing an Economic Forum 
for the Islands to include the Council, HIE, Industry and Community Council reps and that 
an initial meeting to progress this had taken place in Lochgilphead.    

Decision:

The group agreed to note the contents of the report.  

(Ref:  Report by Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure dated 29 May 2018, 
submitted.)

10. NEXT AND FUTURE MEETINGS 
The group gave consideration to a report looking at the current work plan of the 
committee, in light of the progress of the Islands Bill and discussed the need to focus on 
key strategic priorities to better ensure the deliverability of positive outcomes for island 
communities.  Discussion took place in respect of possible work strands going forward, 
which included waste, housing, social security reform and digital connectivity in relation to 
education and health.  Further discussion was had in relation to the frequency of the 
meetings and the arrangements for the visit from the Minister for Islands and Transport.

Decision:

The group agreed:-

1. to note the contents of the report; 
2. that meetings take place quarterly with the next meeting being Tuesday, 28 August 

2018, and that this meeting take place within the Council Chambers, Kilmory, 

Page 5



Lochgilphead to allow for easier participation for the Scottish Minister for the 
Islands and Transport, Humza Yusaf, MSP.  Members further agreed that if the 
Minister was unable to attend on this date, that the meeting be rescheduled to a 
more convenient date; 

3. that the Area Governance Manager revisit the meeting dates already set and 
circulate dates during the months of November 2018 and February 2019 with the 
meetings scheduled to take place on islands being rescheduled for 2019; and 

4. that the work strands for focus at the next meeting of the group be waste and 
housing.  

(Ref:  Report by Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services, dated 29 
May 2018, submitted.)

Page 6



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL Argyll Islands Strategic Group

Chief Executive 28 August 2018

Scottish Government – Draft Description of Island Liaisons Partners

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Further to the report in January 2018 regarding a pilot for civil servants 
from the Scottish Government to volunteer as Island Liaison Partners, 
the civil servants have drafted a proposed description of the role.  This 
is set out below and any comments received on this draft version would 
be welcomed.

1.2 Members are asked to note in the detail the draft description and 
objectives of the Island Liaison Partners as prepared by civil servants and 
provide any comments they may have.

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 4



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL Argyll Islands Strategic Group

Chief Executive 28 August 2018

Scottish Government – Draft Description of Island Liaisons Partners

2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 This papers sets out a draft description of the role of the Liaison 
Partners and the objective of the pilot.  Comments from the committee 
would be welcome before the description is finalised. 

 
3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 Members are asked to note below the draft description and objectives of 
the Island Liaison Partners as prepared by civil servants and provide any 
comments they may have.

4.0 DETAIL

4.1 Further to the report in January 2018 regarding a pilot for civil servants 
from the Scottish Government to volunteer as Island Liaison Partners, 
the civil servants have drafted a proposed description of the role.  This 
is set out below and any comments received on this draft version would 
be welcomed.

Island Liaison Partner Role Description 

4.2 Scotland's Islands are renowned across the world for their proud 
traditions and vibrant cultures. Playing host to numerous festivals and 
events, they are wonderful places to live, work, study and visit.  Our 
islands contribute much to the fabric of Scotland and are home to some 
of our most energetic and resilient communities.  However, 
geographical remoteness, connectivity and demographic changes pose 
distinct challenges for our island communities.   

4.3 Island Liaison Partners, as part of location teams, will build knowledge, 
understanding and relationships with communities and local partners 

Page 8



on the islands. Specific objectives of these roles include to: 

1. Improve the Scottish Government’s understanding of the specific 
challenges, circumstances and opportunities that exist on our 
islands.

2. Shape and influence local empowerment and improvement 
programmes to better meet the needs and interests of our island 
communities. 

3. Use the experience and knowledge to inform the implementation of 
the Islands (Scotland) Bill and the Local Governance Review. 

4. Provide broader intelligence to colleagues on how SG policy 
priorities and reforms are playing out locally.

4.4 The aim of this innovative approach is to improve how we engage with 
island communities. The role of the Partners is therefore not to 
replicate existing processes and procedures unless there is an 
opportunity to add value by, for example, facilitating and signposting. 
The voluntary nature of these posts will also mean that the Liaison 
Partners will need to consider how they can most effectively engage 
with the island communities.  

4.5 Our partnership with Argyll and Bute is already strong and the 
Community Planning Partnership have good arrangements in place to 
ensure that there are regular opportunities for island communities to 
engage proactively with Community Planning processes.  We propose 
to mirror the arrangements already in place in the way we organise 
Scottish Government engagement. The aim of this innovative approach 
is to add value in how we engage with island communities. It is not to 
replicate 

4.6 We have concluded that, given the geography and diversity of the 
Islands in Argyll and Bute, we will need more than one Island Liaison 
Partner and, on that basis, have selected 5 individuals to provide 
support as follows: 

Page 9



Cluster 1; Bute and Cowal (B &C) – 6,948: Ralph Throp

1. Bute

Cluster 2; Oban, Lorn and the Isles (OLI) – 4,844: Gavin Sellar and 
Jon Rathjen

2. Coll
3. Easdale
4. Kerrera
5. Lismore
6. Luing
7. Shuna
8. Mull, Erraid, Ulva and Gometra
9. Iona
10.Seil
11.Tiree.

Cluster 3; Mid Argyll, Kintyre and the Islands (MAKI) – 3,719: Iain 
MacAllister and Dannie Onn

12. Islay
13.Colonsay
14.Gigha
15.Jura
16.Oronsay

4.7 Short biographies for Ralph, Gavin, Jon, Iain, and Dannie can be found at 
appendix 1. 

4.8 We anticipate that Liaison Partners will stay in the role for a good period of 
time to establish and develop enduring relationships.  It will be for the Liaison 
Partners and local partners to determine the local liaison arrangements and it 
is unlikely that they will be the same everywhere. We anticipate that meetings 
of partners on the identified islands to progress local priorities will take place 
between 2 and 4 times a year, likely in line with the rhythm and routine 
already underway as part of the current community planning arrangements.

4.9 As a pioneering approach to community engagement, we are keen to capture 
learning from how the Island Liaison Partner role works in practice. We will 
therefore work with national, local and third sector partners in the coming 
months to establish how this approach will be evaluated.

Page 10



4.10 Comments and suggestions on the description above from the Argyll Islands 
will be welcome.

5.0 CONCLUSION

5.1 The paper sets out a draft description of the role of the Liaison Partners 
and the objective of the pilot and comments from the committee would 
be welcome before the document is finalised. 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy; none
6.2 Financial; none
6.3 Legal; none
6.4 HR; none
6.5 Equalities; none
6.6 Risk; reputation of public sector at risk if expectations are not 

managed.
6.7 Customer Service; none.

Chief Executive of Argyll and Bute Council; Cleland Sneddon
Policy Lead for Islands Councillor Robin Currie
Date of Report 05 December 2017                                              
For further information contact: Stuart Green

Appendix 1 – Biographies of Scottish Government Island Liaison Partners

Page 11



Appendix 1: Biographies of Scottish Government Island Liaison Partners

Ralph Throp

Ralph is responsible for developing the Scottish Government’s approach to 
community resilience to emergencies (find out more at Readyscotland.org). He has 
worked on behalf of the Government on numerous emergency responses. 

He is originally a development planner by trade, and has worked at Heriot Watt 
University in Edinburgh, with a focus on international policy and planning in general 
and Chinese development in particular. He moved on to Scotland’s regeneration 
agencies, Scottish Homes and Communities Scotland, where for 10 years based in 
Inverness, he had territorial responsibility for working with Highland and the 3 Island 
council areas. 

Gavin Sellar

Gavin works in Parliamentary Counsel Office, the Scottish Government’s legislative 
drafting office. He has drafted and contributed to a number of Acts of the Scottish 
Parliament, including the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016, the Land Reform (Scotland) 
Act 2016, the Seat Belts on School Transport (Scotland) Act 2017 and the Islands 
(Scotland) Act 2018, the latter being of particular interest as the son of a Tirisdeach.

Jon Rathjen

Jon is the team leader of the Water Industry Team in the Scottish Government with 
policy responsibility for the Scottish Water Industry including sponsorship of the 
public corporation Scottish Water and the new Hydro Nation agenda. Scotland the 
Hydro Nation focuses on the economic, social and environmental development of the 
value of water resources in Scotland and the raising of Scotland’s international 
profile through its performance on global water issues. 

Jon has over 25 years’ experience as a Public Servant having worked for Customs 
and Excise and now the Scottish Government. With experience in front line service 
delivery and then with policy responsibilities from IT security through to Better Public 
Service Delivery and e-Government, Sustainable Development, and now the Water 
Industry.  Jon is a board (or equivalent) member of Aqua Publica Europea, UK Water 
Partnership, UNESCO Centre for Water Law, Policy and Science. 

Page 12



Iain MacAllister

Iain is currently Head of the Care and Resources Unit in Health and Care Analytical 
Services Analysis Division, managing a team of economists, researchers and 
statisticians. This roles includes providing analytical advice to drive the continuing 
reform of primary and social care in Scotland. including health and social care 
integration. Issues around delivering sustainable, high quality and person-centred 
services in remote and island communities are a key challenge. Iain’s previous roles 
in the Scottish Government included posts in Population Health, Communications & 
Strategic Research and Local Government & Public Sector Reform Research. The 
latter role included working on community planning and local government 
governance research.

Like generations before him Iain was born and bred on the Isle of Colonsay, 
attending Oban High School and the universities of Glasgow and Strathclyde. Iain 
still considers Colonsay home, frequently taking his young family back to the island.

Dannie Onn

Dannie is a chartered architect and historic buildings specialist.  He is employed part 
time by SG as a reporter in the Planning and Environment Appeals Division.  This 
means that he is a homebased civil servant. He lives on the west coast of Scotland 
near Oban.  Dannie’s wife has family connections with Colonsay where they spend 
much of their time, getting increasingly involved with island life.  To fill up his time, 
Dannie volunteers with various charitable enterprises including a community 
development company and the Oban Hockey Club.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 15 Agenda Item 8



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC 
GROUP

DEVELOPMENT AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES

28th of August

OUR ISLAND WASTE

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 Argyll and Bute Council covers a large and diverse geographic area, 
ranging from large urban centres such as Helensburgh and Oban, to rural 
island locations like Mull and even smaller islands like Luing.

1.2 The Council has several legal obligations that impose a duty on the 
Council to collect householders waste (Environmental Protection Act 
1990). These historic obligations have over time been supplemented and 
updated to include duties on recycling of waste and its’ associated 
collection.

The most recent and important change of legislation was the Waste 
Scotland Regulations 2012. A key part of these regulations comes into 
force in January 2021 in the form of a ban in Biodegradable Municipal 
Waste going to Landfill across all of Scotland. Currently there is no 
derogation for Islands or rural locations.

1.3 Linking to work being carried out in the production of Argyll and Bute’s 
Waste Strategy, this report provides detail on the likely impacts of the 
BMW ban on our Island waste disposal operations. The report also details 
the technical options that are being considered and their likely impacts.

1.4 In the report it is recommended that members note the impact of the BMW 
ban on the disposal of waste from island sites in particular the increase in 
on costs both financial and environmental that will have to be borne as a 
result of converting the disposal operations from Landfill to Transfer 
Stations.

1.5 Members should endorse the approach taken through the Waste Strategy 
review to identify and cost potential solutions; with a report being prepared 
for September 7th Environment, Development and Infrastructure 
Committee

Page 61 Agenda Item 9



1.6 It is further recommend that members endorse preparation of a request to 
Scottish Ministers under the terms of the Islands Act 2018 for an Island 
Impact assessment focusing on the impact of the 2021 BMW ban. The 
impact assessment in conjunction with the options appraisal document will 
enable Scottish Ministers and SEPA to formally consider an Island 
Derogation or the provision of additional financial support to help meet the 
terms of the ban. See Appendix 1 for further details on the specific terms 
contained in the Act.

1.7 The report encourages members to endorse continued engagement with 
stakeholders such as Calmac, CMAL, and the Scottish Government on the 
impact of additional haulage requirements as a result of the BMW ban.

Page 62



ARGYLL AND BUTE COUNCIL ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC 
GROUP

DEVELOPMENT AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES

28th of August

OUR ISLAND WASTE

2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 Argyll and Bute covers a land area of 690,946 hectares and is the second 
largest local authority by area in Scotland, after Highland. The population of 
Argyll and Bute is 86,810 (National Records of Scotland's 2017 Mid-Year 
Population Estimates). 43% of Argyll and Bute’s population live in areas 
classified as ‘remote rural.  There are 23 inhabited islands in Argyll and Bute 
(Census 2011).  These are: Bute; Coll; Colonsay; Danna; Easdale; Eilean da 
Mheinn; Erraid; Gigha; Gometra; Inchtavannach; Innischonan; Iona; Islay; 
Jura; Kerrera; Lismore; Luing; Mull; Oronsay; Seil; Shuna (Luing); Tiree; 
Ulva.

Approximately 17.1% of Argyll and Bute’s population live on islands. The  
  most populous Islands are Mull and Islay. 

It should be noted that the population on the Islands is subject to seasonal 
fluctuations as a result of tourism with significant peaks in population timed 
around school holiday periods and local events such as the Islay, Mull, Tiree 
festivals. 

2.2 Waste disposal is carried out by using three separate models across the 
Argyll and Bute:

 Island Landfill and Civic Amenity sites which are operated directly 
operated by Argyll and Bute Council;

 A 25 year PPP contract with Renewi (formerly Shanks) covering Waste 
disposal and Civic Amenity operations on the mainland excluding 
Helensburgh and Lomond. This contract runs until 2026;

 Helensburgh and Lomond is where waste is collected and disposed of at 
third party sites out-with Argyll and Bute.

2.3 As a result of measures in the Waste (Scotland) Regulations 2012 every 

Page 63



local authority in Scotland is obliged to implement a ban on Biodegradable 
Municipal Waste (BMW) going to landfill, from January 2021. 

SEPA has made it clear that the ban of BMW waste going to Landfill will be 
implemented across all of Scotland with no Derogation planned for rural 
areas, including the islands.

2.4 Biodegradable municipal waste is defined by Regulation 11(3) of the Landfill 
(Scotland) Regulations 2003 (as amended) as “municipal waste that is also 
biodegradable”. 

Biodegradable waste is “any waste capable of undergoing anaerobic or 
aerobic decomposition such as food, garden waste, paper and cardboard”.

Municipal waste is “waste from households as well as other waste which 
because of its nature or composition is similar to waste from households”.

BMW waste is the largest constituent fraction of our residual (Black Bag) 
waste. 
 

2.5 Argyll and Bute Council currently operate two combined Civic Amenity and 
Landfill sites in the Islands area: 

 Gartbreck on Islay – with capacity beyond the 2021 date of the 
BMW ban,

 Glengorm on Mull – Capacity until 2019

There are also decommissioned landfill operations on Tiree, Coll and 
Colonsay. These sites are operated as Civic Amenity Sites with the Waste 
arisings transferred to the mainland for disposal. 

2.6 With the BMW ban coming into force in 2021 Landfill Operations on Islay 
and Mull will come to an end and an alternative waste disposal 
methodology will have to be put in place. This change will require 
significant Capital investment and an increase in operating costs as result 
of increased haulage requirements. Section 4 details the options currently 
under consideration and the likely impacts.

 

3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 It is recommended that members note the impact of the BMW ban on the 
disposal of Waste from island sites in particular the increase in on costs both 
financial and environmental that will have to be borne as a result of 
converting the disposal operations from Landfill to Transfer Stations.

3.2 Members should endorse the approach taken through the Waste Strategy 

Page 64



review to identify and cost potential solutions; with a report being prepared 
for September 7th Environment, Development and Infrastructure committee.

3.3 It is further recommend that members support the preparation of a request 
to Scottish Minister under the terms of the Islands Act 2018 for an Island 
Impact assessment focusing on the impact of the 2021 BMW ban. The 
impact assessment in conjunction with the options appraisal document will 
enable Scottish Ministers and SEPA to formally consider an Island 
Derogation or the provision of additional financial support to help meet the 
terms of the ban. See Appendix 1 for further details on the specific terms 
contained in the Act.

3.4 The report encourages members to endorse continued engagement with 
stakeholders such as Calmac, CMAL, and the Scottish Government on the 
impact of additional haulage requirements as a result of the BMW ban.

4.0 DETAIL

4.1 Currently residual waste containing the BMW element produced on Islay 
and Mull is landfilled on the islands. Residual and BMW Waste from Jura 
and Iona is landfilled on Islay and Mull respectively. The residual waste 
containing the BMW element is predicted at approximately 3420 tonnes for 
both Islay and Mull.

4.1.2 Business Cases for the conversion of landfill operations at Gartbreck and 
Glengorm are being prepared. The funds needed for the conversion works 
come from earmarked funds for Capping and Restoration. The funds 
available for the works is around £1.4m.

4.2 Currently co-mingled recyclate from bring sites, households and the civic 
amenity sites is sorted, baled and taken off the Islands for sale at market  

                       regularly. 

WEEE waste, Glass Waste and Scrap Metal waste are also taken off the 
islands regularly. Waste from these streams are valuable commodities and 
through their sale a percentage of the haulage costs are recouped.

Estimated Haulage including Ferry costs for Non-Residual Waste including 
BMW for Mull, Islay and Tiree for 2018/19 is approximately £170k as 
detailed in Table 1 below.

 Table 1.

Estimated Haulage Contract Cost
Island Est. Cost
Islay £82,320
Mull £54,316
Tiree £31,560
Total £168,196

Page 65



4.3 To comply with the BMW ban around 3420 tonnes of residual waste would 
have to be collected and then transferred to the mainland via haulier and 
ferry/commercial cargo vessel. 

The residual waste including the BMW element would then be taken to the 
mainland for disposal at:

 A Waste Disposal facility in mainland Argyll operated by Renewi 
(formerly Shanks) - Extracting the BMW element and disposing of it 
through composting, processing the remaining residual into Refuse 
Derived Fuel (RDF) for sale on the market.

 Or another 3rd party disposal facility producing RDF in the Central 
belt;

 Or an Anaerobic Digestion Plant (AD) plant- Process where the 
Anaerobic Digestion of BMW in sealed containers generates biogas 
used in energy generation. 

4.3.2 Further details on the options for BMW ban compliance are a key element of 
the Waste Strategy EDI report (6/9/18).

4.4 Switching to a transfer operation for all of the islands residual waste will 
have the following effects:

 Increase in haulage costs as a result of residual waste transfers.
 Additional cost from processing gate fee of £103/tonne. 
 Additional HGV traffic on Calmac operated ferry routes
 Additional HGV traffic on Mainland Argyll and Bute road network

The increase in haulage costs and traffic requirements are detailed in Table 
2 below: 

Table 2

Page 66



Predicted Post BMW Island Waste Transfer impacts
No. of Households

Total Annual Residual Islands Waste Tonnage
Island Residual Waste/Household

Predicted Total of Island Residual Transfers
Predicted Total Island Non-Residual Transfers

Total Waste Transfers from the Islands

Predicted Annual Cost of Residual Transfers
Predicted Annual Cost of Non- Residual Transfers
Predicted Non-Residual Gate Fees@ £103/tonne

Predicted Total Annual Cost of Island Uplifts 

3531

0.97

Islay & Mull

£222,338
£168,196

£742,794
£352,260

3420.58

171
147
318

4.5 Calmac have provided assurance to the Council that we would have the 
ability to block book ferry capacity for our residual waste transfers. However 
questions remain on whether the existing and short term future Calmac fleet 
are able to accommodate and additional 342 round trips of a 20 tonne HGV, 
particularly as they are already operating close to capacity on most of their 
routes. Given that in the last two years Calmac has experienced significant 
difficulty in maintaining fleet resilience as a result of mechanical failures, 
their ability to meet our requirements is not certain.

4.6 Disposal methodology for the BMW must marry up with the collection 
methodology i.e. in order for the BMW to be processed at an Anaerobic 
Digestion plant it would need to be separated at the point of collection and 
this would require a separate food waste collection to be put in place on the 
Islands. To implement a food waste collection on Mull and Islay would cost 
an additional £270k. Our proposed solutions of the transfer of residual waste 
would not necessitate a change in the current residual waste collection 
service.

5.0 CONCLUSION

5.1 The Island Strategic Group should note the issues raised in the report and 
the work being carried out as part of the Waste Strategy project. The first 
Waste Strategy report will be presented to EDI on the 6th of September. 
There will be regular reports to EDI on the progress of the Waste Strategy 
from draft to final publication thereafter. 

5.2 Business cases for the conversion of our island Landfill sites to transfer 
operations are being prepared and will be submitted for approval when 
complete.

5.3 The haulage implications of the BMW ban will continue to be discussed with 
Calmac/CMAL/Scottish Government, with a view to put in place the required 
support to operate the waste transfer service effectively. 

Page 67



6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Policy
A comprehensive Waste Strategy covering the period up to and including 

                   2026 is being produced to provide solutions and a road map of how to
                   resolve the issues raised in this report.

As part of the development of the Waste Strategy a fully costed options 
appraisal document will be produced for review by the Scottish Government 
in order to seek both endorsement and additional support from central 
government.  

The Waste Strategy will support the stated outcomes in the ABOIP by 
enhancing and developing community led and developed Waste Solutions. 
By adopting the approach that Waste is a strategic resource that can be 
utilised within the communities producing it the environmental and 
economic benefits of local solutions can be maximized.

The Waste strategy is also clearly linked to outcomes of the Corporate Plan:

Our Approach (Section 2.2):
The Waste Strategy will identify the most efficient way to deliver waste 

services across the Council area.
 It will explore opportunities for commercial exploitation of waste
 It will support existing relationships with 3rd sector partners and develop 

frameworks for future involvement.

Getting it Right (Section 3.0)
 The Waste Strategy will ensure that we have compliant systems for the 

processing of waste.
 Best Value and effective management of council resources is built in to the 

options appraisal process of the Waste Strategy.

        Measuring our Success (section 4.0)
 The Waste Strategy and its proposed solutions will be subject regular 

reporting and the councils Performance Improvement Framework

6.2 Financial 
There will be an increase in the operating costs as a result of the BMW ban 

                   and switching to Waste Transfer operations on Islay and Mull. 

The increase in operating costs will also impact on the funds available 
                   forrestoration works at Island Landfill sites. This may see works redundant
                   sites reprioritised. 

£1.4m of Capital fund has been earmarked in order convert existing Landfill
                  operations into appropriately equipped Waste Transfer Stations.

Page 68



6.3 Legal 
Under the Terms of the Island Act 2018, a request for Island Impact 
Assessments will be prepared and submitted to Ministers.
 

                   It is hoped that the Impact Assessment will consider the case for specific      
                   derogation for Islands from the BMW ban.  

6.4 HR 
Retraining of operations staff will be needed in the event of site operations

                   shifting from Landfill to Transfer operations.

Should Transfer Stations on Islay and Mull be required the council may
                   decide to carry out its own waste haulage operation. This will require
                   additional staffing resource to ensure continuity of service and compliance. 

6.5 Equalities and Fairer Scotland Duty
The Waste Strategy (including measures outlined in this report) as part of 
requirements under the Fairer Scotland Duty and its outcomes have been 
assessed through an Equalities Impact Assessment to establish the 
potential social economic impact of the strategy. At every reporting stage of 
the production of the Waste Strategy including the Island Waste Transfer 
Stations a Full Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out. 

6.6 Risk
Transfer of waste from the Islands is reliant on ferry services to ship the 

                   waste from the Islands. In the last 12 months there has been significant 
                   disruption in ferry services operated by Caledonia MacBrayne. The transit 
                   costs of all haulage from the Islands using are high and continue to rise.
                   Ferry fares are subject to annual price rises and fuel costs are likely to
                   continue to rise.

6.7 Customer Service
Various Contractual and Legal obligations.

Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure Services
Policy Lead, Cllr Aileen Morton
15/08/18

                                                
For further information contact: Peter Leckie

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Section 12a of the Islands Act 2018

Page 69



Appendix 1: 

Section 12a of the Islands Act 2018

12A Duty of the Scottish Ministers to have regard to request for retrospective island 
communities impact assessment 
(1) A local authority listed in the schedule may make a request to the Scottish Ministers to prepare and 
publish a retrospective island communities impact assessment in relation to existing legislation or 
national strategies which have an effect on an island community 5 which is significantly different from 
their effect on other communities (including other island communities) in Scotland. 
(2) Following receipt of a request made under subsection (1), the Scottish Ministers must, within 3 
months, confirm in writing— 
(a) their approval of the request, or 10 
(b) their reasons for not approving the request. 
(3) If the Scottish Ministers approve a request under subsection (2)(a), they must prepare and publish 
a retrospective island communities impact assessment under subsection (1) within 6 months of the 
date of their decision. 
(4) In this section— 15 
“legislation” means— 
(a) an Act of the Scottish Parliament, and 
(b) subordinate legislation made under an Act of the Scottish Parliament, 
“national strategies” means any strategy or framework prepared and published by the Scottish 
Ministers. 20 
(5) A retrospective island communities impact assessment must include— 
(a) a description of the methods and data used to assess the effect on island communities, 
(b) the steps (if any) the Scottish Ministers intend to take to rectify, mitigate or improve the effect of 

the legislation or national strategy on island communities.

Page 70



ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC 
GROUP

DEVELOPMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
SERVICES

28th AUGUST 2018

FUEL POVERTY (TARGET, DEFINITION AND STRATEGY) (SCOTLAND) BILL

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The Warm Homes Bill has been a long standing commitment of the Scottish 
Government – however at this point in time the Scottish Government have 
committed only to a Fuel Poverty Bill as opposed to a holistic Warm Homes Bill.  The 
Scottish Government are currently in the process of putting forward to Scottish 
Parliament the Fuel Poverty (Target, Definition and Strategy) (Scotland) Bill which 
will outline a target of 5% fuel poverty across Scotland by 2040.  The Bill proposes 
major changes to the fuel poverty definition, as well as amendments to the presumed 
heating regime for elderly households in Scotland.  Argyll and Bute currently has a 
fuel poverty rate of 45% (Scottish Housing Condition Survey, 2018), and the new 
target and definition will identify significant challenges for residents in Argyll and 
Bute.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION

2.1 It is recommended that: 
 The group notes the response to the consultation submitted by officers and 

consider what further policy steps they may wish to take. 
 

Page 71 Agenda Item 10



ARGYLL & BUTE COUNCIL ARGYLL ISLANDS STRATEGIC 
GROUP

DEVELOPMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
SERVICES

28th AUGUST 2018

FUEL POVERTY (TARGET, DEFINITION AND STRATEGY) (SCOTLAND) BILL

3. INTRODUCTION

3.1 The Warm Homes Bill has been a long standing commitment of the Scottish 
Government– however at this point in time the Scottish Government have 
committed only to a Fuel Poverty Bill as opposed to a holistic Warm Homes Bill.  
The Scottish Government are currently in the process of putting forward to Scottish 
Parliament the Fuel Poverty (Target, Definition and Strategy) (Scotland) Bill which 
will outline a target of 5% fuel poverty across Scotland by 2040.  The Bill proposes 
major changes to the fuel poverty definition, as well as amendments to the 
presumed heating regime for elderly households in Scotland.  Argyll and Bute 
currently has a fuel poverty rate of 45% (Scottish Housing Condition Survey, 2018), 
and the new target and definition will identify significant challenges for residents in 
Argyll and Bute.  This report will outline the new definition, target and strategy; as 
well as informing on potential challenges and opportunities for Argyll and Bute. The 
Bill is currently in Stage 1 of the parliamentary process, with parliament considering 
the general principles – and it is identified that the Bill will be in place by 2019 
(subject to timescales). 

4. RECOMMENDATION

4.1 It is recommended that: 
 The group notes the response to the consultation submitted by officers and 

consider what further policy steps they may wish to take. 

5. DETAIL 

5.1 Definition
The Scottish Government have proposed the following definition for a household 
being in fuel poverty: 

“household is in fuel poverty if— 
(a) the fuel costs necessary for the home in which members of the household live 
to meet the conditions set out in subsection (2) are more than 10% of the 
household’s adjusted net income, and 
(b) after deducting such fuel costs and the household’s childcare costs (if any), the 
household’s remaining adjusted net income is insufficient to maintain an acceptable 
standard of living for members of the household.”

The conditions referred to in the proposed definition are that a property should be 
heated to 21ºC in the living room and 18ºC in all other rooms for 9 hours a day on a 

Page 72



weekday and 16 hours a day during weekends.  Elderly and infirm households 
have an increased heating regime (given the longer time spent in their property) 
which is 23ºC in the living room and 20ºC in all other rooms for 16 hours every day.  
This is a noted increase from the original 23ºC in the living room and 18ºC in all 
other rooms.  This therefore accommodates a warmer heating regime for 
elderly/infirm householders than the previous definition with the likely result being 
more such household will fall into the fuel poverty definition.

The proposed definition in the Bill utilises the Minimum Income Assessment 
(produced by Joseph Rowntree Foundation) to calculate affordability for 
householders to pay their fuel bills.  Through utilising this method, the expected 
result is that wealthy householders who own large homes with high fuel bills will no 
longer be classed as “fuel poor” – and therefore will target genuine cases of fuel 
poverty.  This may help reduce the cases of fuel poverty in Argyll and Bute. 

It is also proposed that households adjusted net income will include the deduction 
of rent (this can include mortgage costs), Council Tax and water rates, fuel and 
childcare.  Whilst this will provide a better understanding of households in fuel 
poverty, there are concerns that repair and maintenance costs of the property are 
not factored into the adjusted net income.  Householders may not be classed as 
“fuel poor” through this definition, however may require extensive 
repairs/maintenance of their property to resolve damp issues which could be costly.

It should be noted that the previous definition of fuel poverty was easy to 
understand and to communicate to members of the public (i.e. a householder had 
to spend 10% of their annual income on fuel costs); as well as being easy to 
measure.  There are concerns that this method will be difficult to calculate and 
communicate to members of the public.  

There is no consideration in the definition of any rural/island weighting – which is 
disappointing given the extensive research and evidence base of rural and island 
fuel poverty. 

5.2 Target and Strategy

The Bill is proposing a target of “no more than 5% of households in fuel poverty by 
2040” for the whole of Scotland.  The proposed Bill also states that Scottish 
Ministers will consult and prepare a Fuel Poverty Strategy which will outline the 
approach to meet this target, to identify organisations involved in the delivery of the 
target; and to identify the household characteristics of fuel poverty and the 
challenges faced. 

The 2040 target is ambitious, and is intended to work alongside the Energy Efficient 
Scotland programme – which has a large emphasis on improving the energy 
efficiency of the Housing Stock across Scotland.  The Bill is currently consulting on 
the following proposals:

 Owner occupied households to have an Energy Performance Certificate 
(EPC) of band C by 2040 (where technically feasible and cost effective)

 Private rented households to have an EPC of band D by 2020, and C by 
2030 (where technically feasible and cost effective)

 Social rented households having an EPC of band B by 2032(where 
technically feasible and cost effective)

Page 73



 Fuel Poor households having an EPC of band C by 2030 and B by 2040. 
(where technically feasible and cost effective)

There is also further interest in moving to low carbon heat sources – anticipated to 
reduce fuel bills –as well as promoting energy switching.  The price of energy is not 
a devolved power and therefore there is no influence as such on this issue. 

There are concerns over this target and proposals being consulted on as – 
although it’s Scotland wide – the rural and island areas may be disadvantaged due 
to having poorer energy efficient stock and higher fuel bills due to a lack of access 
to mains gas.  This further identified the need for an island/rural weighting to be 
incorporated to the definition.  There are also concerns over the Fuel Poverty 
element of the EPC standard- as fuel poverty has many variables and would be 
difficult to administer. Furthermore, there are concerns on whether proposed EPC 
standards are viable for rural/island areas – all of which influence the overall fuel 
poverty target that is being proposed. 

The Housing Service has responded to consultations regarding Fuel Poverty and 
the proposals outlined for minimum energy efficiency standards throughout 
housing; both of which can be found in appendix one and two of this report. 

6.0 CONCLUSION

This report has highlighted the initial progress with the Fuel Poverty (Target, 
Definition and Strategy) (Scotland) Bill which is currently in the first stage of the 
parliamentary process.  There are key changes to the definition, as well as a new 
target revised for 2040.  The changes outlined in the definition and target/strategy 
will have considerable challenges for Argyll and Bute as a whole; as well as the 
additional challenges faced with the proposals identified in the Energy Efficient 
Scotland consultation. 

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Legal: A new statutory fuel poverty target for 2040 is being proposed. 

6.2 Financial: None. 

6.3 HR: None

6.4 Policy: The proposal identifies a new fuel poverty target of 5% of homes across 
Scotland not being in fuel poverty by 2040.  The proposals contribute towards the 
Scottish Governments target of reducing fuel poverty and reducing greenhouse gas 
emissions by 80% by 2050. It assists in achieving the Local Housing Strategy’s aim 
to improve the quality and condition of housing. 

6.5 Equalities / Fairer Scotland Duty: The scheme is consistent with the aims and 
objectives set out in the Local Housing Strategy. The fuel poverty rate in Argyll and 
Bute should fall due to the proposed new definition.  The definition may also make 
energy efficiency schemes difficult to identify fuel poor households.

6.6 Risk: None.

Page 74



6.7 Customer Service: Increased opportunities for householders to access funding for 
energy efficiency improvements. 

Executive Director of Development and Infrastructure: Pippa Milne

Policy Lead for Communities, Housing, Islands and Gaelic: Cllr Robin Currie

1st August 2018

For more information, please contact;  
Bill Halliday, Housing Operations Team Lead, Tel: 01546 604425                                      
Email: bill.halliday@argyll-bute.gov.uk 

Page 75

mailto:bill.halliday@argyll-bute.gov.uk


APPENDIX ONE

Fuel poverty definition consultation

QUESTION RESPONSE

1) Do you have any comments on this 
new definition of fuel poverty, in 
particular,
what do you think about the proposal to 
use AHC and MIS as means to
measure fuel poverty in Scotland?
a) What, if any, challenges do you think 
this approach could present in
enabling targeting of resources to those 
most vulnerable to fuel poverty

The new definition is difficult to convey to 
householders and it will be difficult to 
provide an “on the doorstep” test of fuel 
poverty. 

“After housing costs” (AHC) isn’t clear 
whether the maintenance/ repair of a 
property is covered – which should be 
factored in to ensure householders look 
after their property. 

Additionally the key issue with the definition 
is how to determine whether the spend of 
fuel is enough to attain a “healthy indoor 
environment” or whether it is heating to too 
high a level given the recommended 
heating regime. This poses a difficulty in 
attempting to calculate this (either on the 
doorstep or through a telephone call. 

In practical terms, it could be difficult to 
administer schemes against this definition 
as each householder would presumably 
require some form of survey - again difficult 
to explain why one person is getting it and 
another isn’t. 

The new definition does reduce cases 
whereby wealthy householders living in 
large properties would no longer be 
considered as fuel poor which is welcomed. 

There is no weighting for 
remote/rural/island areas which we would 
consider to be unfair given the already well 
documented issues these areas present. 
Therefore this merits further consideration 
in our view and should be accounted for. 

Clarity is required on what heating costs 
have been calculated on – and whether this 
takes into account local fuel data. 

The MIS (Minimum Income Standard) takes 
into account a family of 6 or less – and 
therefore there needs to be a clear 
indication of what constitutes being fuel 
poor for a larger family of over 6 and how 

Page 76



this will be calculated. 

b) If this definition is to be used, how 
would you propose these challenges 
are overcome?

There needs to be consideration given to 
very remote/remote/island areas and 
potentially a rural weighting allocated to the 
definition

Provide a measurement for housing 
maintenance and repair to ensure that this 
is accounted for.  

Ensure that local fuel use data is used for 
accuracy. 

Provide clarity on households with over 6 
members. 

2) Do you have any views on the 
proposal of using 75 years of age as a
threshold for identifying those who are 
likely to be vulnerable to the adverse
health outcomes of fuel poverty?

Pensionable age highlights a change in 
living circumstances; and therefore can 
also be used as a proxy for identifying fuel 
poor households.   This change potentially 
highlights a different heating regime, 
potentially spending more “day time” hours 
in the property and therefore using more 
fuel to heat their home.  

Further information/clarity on the evidence 
to back up the “75” age bracket for 
vulnerability to fuel poverty would be 

Page 77



welcomed. 

However, in general we would be happy to 
defer to expert medical judgement on this 
point.

3) In relation to island communities, are 
there any additional

a. challenges that we need to 
consider in developing our 
strategy?

A further rural weighting may be 
advantageous for island areas; given the 
poorer health care provision on island 
areas; pre 1919 properties; and higher 
travelling costs (difficulties in securing & 
retaining sufficient staff to deliver effective 
services at a local level for instance)

The lack of mains gas is a major challenge 
in many areas, meaning that householders 
are either on oil (volatile), mains electricity 
(expensive), or have to investigate 
innovative heating solutions with different 
projects (where there are difficulties with 
funding). 

Conservation area constraints mean that 
householders may have to accept 
solutions/measures that they may not want 
– e.g. intrusive internal wall insulation to a 
small property – and there needs to be a 
recognition for traditional energy efficiency 
measures for these areas (such as shutters 
and thick curtains).

The logistics for island areas are one of the 
biggest challenges – with ferries; road 
closures and accommodation posing the 
main issues – meaning that there a lack of  
willing contractors for island communities.

In terms of trades on the island,  good 
trades are too busy as they have a good 
reputation; and unreliable ones are known 
on island and don’t want to be used. Some 
are also not accredited for the insulation 
works. 

3) In relation to island communities, are 
there any additional
b. opportunities
that we need to consider in developing 
our strategy?

Opportunities for having a “whole island 
approach” which would require a large 
scale community buy in
In terms of Area Based Schemes, again a 
whole island approach should be sought for 
producing economies of scale which would 
address potential work commitments for 
contractors. 

Community involvement/lead for innovative 
energy efficiency schemes. 

Page 78



4) In relation to rural and remote rural 
communities, are there any additional

a. challenges that we need to 
consider in developing our 
strategy?

Please see above. 

It is often the case that rural areas are 
potentially more hidden away and the 
challenges of very remote rural areas aren’t 
as visible. Often these remoter 
communities exhibit similar characteristics 
to actual islands albeit technically they may 
be part of the mainland. Additionally, there 
is a challenge of defining the boundaries of 
the “community” in rural areas as there is a 
huge level of sparsity. 

4) In relation to rural and remote rural 
communities, are there any additional
b. opportunities that we need to 
consider in developing our strategy?

Off gas grid provides opportunities for 
innovative solutions to reducing energy 
consumption and alleviating fuel poverty

Community led/involved emphasis towards 
generating interest and agreement for 
energy solutions. These areas may also be 
better placed in terms of coming together to 
support community led innovative projects. 

5) Please give us your views on how 
national partners and local delivery 
organisations can work better together 
to identify and support those at risk of, 
or experiencing fuel poverty? What 
would best support, or enable such 
partnerships?

Argyll and Bute Council run an energy 
efficiency forum which invites energy 
agencies; charities; housing 
associations/registered social landlords and 
national agencies to discuss and share best 
practice regarding energy efficiency.  The  
group meets quarterly and (as part of the 
Forum) are required to report on their 
energy efficiency activities every quarter.  
This provides a platform for agencies such 
as Home Energy Scotland and Argyll 
Lomonds and the Islands Energy Agency 
(ALIenergy); local RSL groups and energy 
charities such as Islay Energy Trust and 
Iona Renewables Group to discuss what 
assistance they can offer and how best to 
interact with members of the public. 

In the past, the council has used bespoke 
house condition surveys to collate robust 
evidence base to inform needs 
assessments, development of local policy & 
strategy, and to bid for or generate 
investment opportunities.

6) What can local partners do to 
contribute to meeting national aims of
effectively and sustainably tackling fuel 
poverty? This might include
sharing best practice or developing 
strategic approaches.

Sharing best practice and resources (in 
terms of availability of grants; successful 
funding applications and opportunities for 
joint working) will assist with reducing fuel 
poverty.
Given the unique housing stock, Argyll and 
Bute faces a difficult challenge of not being 
able to have a one size fits all approach. 
This would therefore need to be reflected in 
any funding opportunities or strategic 
approaches that are developed. 

Page 79



7) How can SG support local delivery 
partners (e.g. third sector organisations
and social enterprises) to measure their 
success?

Provide a tailored energy efficiency/fuel 
poverty monitoring form for reporting 
purposes.  This will allow for a uniform 
approach and will allow for something that’s 
able to be replicated over Scotland. 

8) How can the Scottish Government 
best support local or community level
organisations to accurately
a. measure provision of advice and 
support services and their outcomes?

Provide a tailored monitoring form and 
training on how to fill this out quickly on 
initial visit 

Have SG (or funder) write out to 
householder with a 6 month/year break to 
find out if advice is followed through. 

8) How can the Scottish Government 
best support local or community level
organisations to accurately
b. report on provision of advice and 
support services and their outcomes?

A national system for reporting fuel poverty 
would be advantageous – it would allow a 
systematic approach for logging details and 
would ultimately ensure that there is a 
consistency for reporting. 

8) How can the Scottish Government 
best support local or community level
organisations to accurately
c. ensure quality of provision of advice 
and support services and their 
outcomes?

An accredited quality training scheme 
would be advantageous for the delivery of 
energy advice and support.  Again, this 
would provide a consistent approach to the 
delivery, reporting and measurement of fuel 
poverty advice and support; and would 
mean that householders are receiving a 
broadly consistent fuel poverty approach. 

9) How can the one-stop-shop 
approach be enhanced for the benefit of 
HES
clients; and in particular,
a. Are there any improvements that you 
think can be made to the HES
service to further enable it to best reach 
the most vulnerable to fuel
poverty client groups?

A quicker identification of Able To Pay vs 
Fuel Poor.

Have a streamlined conversation with client 
through HES and similarly better linkages 
with Warmer Homes Scotland /HEEPS: 
ABS contractors for accurate household 
information.  

Potentially better use of the Home Analytics 
dataset. 

10) What are your views on our 
proposal to set a new statutory target to
eradicate fuel poverty in the Warm 
Homes Bill?

Ambitious targets should be set, however 
with rising fuel prices and living costs, 
eradication of fuel poverty may be overly 
ambitious.  

The eradication of fuel poverty would have 
to include legislative powers that can be 
enforced. 

11) What are your views on the 
proposed sub-targets?

The consultation paper identifies a statutory 
target of eradicating fuel poverty by 2040; 
and a non-statutory sub-target of reducing 
fuel poverty to below 10% by 2040.  It 
needs to be clear as to what the statutory 
target for fuel poverty is – and whether the 
Government identifies “eradication” as 
being less than 10%.  If this is the case, the 
statutory target should not be eradicating 
fuel poverty; it should be reducing it to 

Page 80



below 10%. 

Consideration should be given to 
householders that don’t want insulation 
measures – which may have an impact on 
the 3rd target of insulating all properties. In 
areas where external wall insulation is a 
difficult and expensive measure (e.g. 
rural/islands) internal wall insulation is the 
preferred option. However, the intrusive 
nature puts householders off IWI; and 
therefore means that they will be missing 
out on insulation measures.  Especially in 
conservation areas. 

There needs to be a further emphasis on 
reducing fuel costs (as this is one of the 
main drivers of fuel poverty and has a large 
influence on the issue).  Although this is a 
UK Government issue and not devolved, 
consideration and lobbying for fairer energy 
prices must be considered. 

An independent review of delivery in 2030 
would be welcomed to further identify the 
different needs that present themselves in 
the timeline. 

Further assessments should be required in 
order to identify if the sub-targets are 
achievable within the timescales identified. 

11) What are your views on the 
proposed sub-targets?
a) What are your views on the proposed 
levels?

Given that the “new” definition will reduce 
the number of fuel poor households to 
approx. 25%; a 10% target by 2040 should 
be achievable and realistic.  However, this 
will still require significant investment into 
energy efficiency measures; as well as 
bespoke home visits to reduce energy 
consumption. An assessment should be 
conducted to identify the minimum 
investment required to meet these targets  

This still may not be reached unless energy 
costs become affordable across Scotland. 

11) What are your views on the 
proposed sub-targets?
b) What are your views on the proposed 
timeframe?

The timeframe provides a realistic 
opportunity to reduce levels of fuel poverty 
– and will be in line with Local Heat and 
Energy Efficiency Strategies to work 
alongside this target

12) What are your views on the 
proposed interim milestones?

The milestones are realistic if the revised 
fuel poverty definition reduces the overall 
fuel poverty levels by 5%.  

However, whilst the overall levels of fuel 
poverty may be reduced, hard to treat and 
hard to heat households (often found in 
rural areas) are still going to pose big 

Page 81



issues and without a rural premium, areas 
that are already susceptible to fuel poverty 
will not change. 

Again, an assessment will be required in 
order to ascertain whether these milestones 
are realistic.

12) What are your views on the 
proposed interim milestones?
a) What are your views on the proposed 
levels?

Please see above. 

12) What are your views on the 
proposed interim milestones?
b) What are your views on the proposed 
timeframe?

Please see above. 

13) How should the new Fuel Poverty 
Advisory Panel and Fuel Poverty
Partnership Forum monitor progress 
towards meeting the proposed sub-
targets and interim milestones?

Reporting requirement that is simple and 
easy to understand/use – with measures 
that can be applied across the country 
Reporting requirement for Local Authorities 
to report on partnership working

A review of the current proxies that are 
available for different fuel poverty schemes.  
Currently, households with benefits/are in 
Council Tax Band A-C receive grant 
assistance, alienating the working fuel poor 
in Council Tax Band D and above. 

There needs to be a greater use of 
modelled data as well as data from the 
EPC register (i.e Home Analytics) to have a 
greater understanding of fuel poverty 
instead of solely relying on SHCS (which is 
neither robust nor credible at the local level 
or for rural authorities such as Argyll & 
Bute.).

14) What do you think the Advisory 
Panel’s priorities should be in its first 
year?

Create links with the NHS

Identify what monitoring will be required for 
fuel poverty

15) What examples do you have of 
using proxies to identify fuel poor
households?
a) Which proxies did you use?

Council Tax Band A-C properties for 
HEEPS: ABS

15) What examples do you have of 
using proxies to identify fuel poor
households?
b) Based on your experience, how well 
did these proxies work in
accurately identifying fuel poor 
households?

Council Tax Band A-C doesn’t work for 
rural areas as fuel poverty is pepper potted.  
A better proxy would be off gas grid and 
island areas; and for more urban areas 
Council Tax Band A-C and off gas grid 
heating systems would identify fuel poor 
areas.  Given fuel prices is one aspect that 
can’t be tackled, it would make sense to 
target the more expensive options first. 

Page 82



16) What are the key lessons to be 
learnt from any existing approaches that
apply proxies in door-to-door, on-the-
ground assessments in this context?

An easy to use definition of fuel poverty and 
clear eligibility criteria to ensure that there 
is no grey areas for householders. 

17) Do you have any concerns about 
the use of a doorstep tool, in particular 
the challenges around delivery of area 
based schemes?

Additional resources will be required in 
order to fully utilise a doorstep tool to 
identify eligibility for energy efficiency 
schemes. 

18) How can the Scottish Government 
most effectively work with Community
Planning Partnerships in a collaborative 
manner to report on overall fuel
poverty levels as part of the SHCS?

A combination of the Home Analytics data 
along with data already collected in the 
Scottish Housing Condition Survey sample 
would ensure a collective approach and 
would utilise all available data. For 
example, Home Analytics data provides a 
fuel poverty figure of 41% for Argyll and 
Bute in 2016/17; as oppose to 48% from 
the SHCS.

Identify what properties are being surveyed 
for the SHCS for Argyll and Bute.  

Ensure that the data collection side of 
SHCS is accurate and reliable at CPP/ 
Local Authority level.  

19) What are your views on, or 
experience of how an outcomes-
focused
approach would work in practice?

The approach is welcomed and needs to be 
accompanied by measures which directly 
relate to those outcomes as well as one 
measuring the drivers. 

19) What are your views on, or 
experience of how an outcomes-
focused approach would work in 
practice?
a) Would it encourage national and 
local policy and delivery partners to
work together effectively, and if not, 
what alternative approach(es) do
you propose could be used instead?

Where it is possible to identify & quantify 
outcomes (as opposed to outputs), then 
this is the standard approach for delivering 
and measuring success of the general 
range of strategies and would normally 
encourage, facilitate and focus partnership 
working and joint delivery. 

20) Do you think the principles detailed 
in the 3 bullet points above are
adequately reflected in the outcomes 
framework?

Yes.

21) In your opinion, would the proposed 
framework help to strengthen
partnerships on-the-ground?
a) If so, how?

There needs to be a willing reason for 
partnership working (e.g. bringing funding 
into the area) which assists in 
strengthening partnerships between 
different agencies and local authorities.  If 
the framework can reflect this then it will 
strengthen local partnership working. 

21) In your opinion, would the proposed 
framework help to strengthen
partnerships on-the-ground?
b) If not, why?

Given that the proposed framework is set to 
be a statutory requirement that is measured 
and overseen by ministers, it will assist to 
strengthen partnerships on the ground due 

Page 83



to it being recognised as a requirement. 

22) Do you think any of the proposals 
set out in this consultation will have an
impact, positive or negative, on 
equalities as set out above? If so, what
impact do you think that will be and, if 
negative, how do you think these
could be mitigated?

An EQIA is essential given that age is a 
critical factor in fuel poverty issues; and that 
this whole issue is now gaining traction and 
importance for Health & Social Care 
Partnerships – and promoting closer cross 
sectoral planning. 
Initial views are that the proposals will have 
positive impacts for particular groups and 
will provide improved equity across the 
population.

23) What implications (including 
potential costs) will there be for 
business and
public sector delivery organisations from 
these proposals?

If there is going to be a statutory 
requirement for fuel poverty eradication, 
then additional resources will be required in 
order to further facilitate work on the 
ground – whether this is delivered at a local 
authority level or not. 

24) Do you think any of these proposals 
will have an impact, positive or
negative, on children’s rights? If so, 
what impact do you think that will be
and, if negative, how do you think these 
could be mitigated?

Yes, positive impact on children’s health 
and wellbeing due to warmer, more efficient 
homes and generally better environments. 

Page 84



APPENDIX TWO

Minimum energy efficiency standards consultation

No. QUESTION RESPONSE

1. What are your views on 
our proposal for owner 
occupied and private 
rented properties to 
achieve the long term 
domestic energy standard 
EPC Energy Efficiency 
Rating Band C by 2040 at 
the latest?

The proposal in terms of an EPC band of C for 
private properties is ambitious and will require 
substantial levels of funding to get to this level.  

The figure of £3,500 to get homes to this level will 
be extremely challenging (if not impossible) for 
some properties – particularly in rural and island 
areas. Given this has been taken from a SHCS 
report, the Argyll and Bute “sample” for this is only 
241 properties (equating roughly to 0.5% of the 
stock) and therefore doesn’t provide a fair 
representation of the additional costs of travel etc. 
that rural areas are disadvantaged from. 

There should be a focus on a standard for all 
homes irrespective of tenure – with an option 
being to be as energy efficient as reasonable 
practicable. 

For example, a band F will struggle to meet a D, 
let alone a C: 

Measure Cost (according to 
EPC)

EPC Effect

Room in Roof 
Insulation

£1,500 - £2,700 F 21

Underfloor 
Insulation

£800 - £1,200 F 25

Hot Water Cylinder 
Coat

£15 - £30 F 25

Upgrade Heating 
Controls

£350 - £450 F 31

Solar Water 
Heating 

£4,000 - £6,000 F 34

Solar PV Panels £5,000 - £8,000 E 42
Wind Turbine £15,000 - £25,000 D 62
Total Best Case 

=£26,665  Worst  
Case =£43,380 

53 Point jump

2. Do you think we should 
allow for situations where a 
lower standard is 
acceptable?

Yes.  Lower standards should be accepted for 
conservation areas and traditional properties 
where traditional measures such as shutters and 
heavy curtains aren’t accounted for in EPC; and 
are harder and more expensive to insulate.  Also, 
traditional roofs that are requiring repair will not be 
able to support solar PV/thermal, and 
consideration should be given to the 
repair/maintenance of the building as well as 
energy efficiency improvements.

Additional funding/options will be required for off 
gas grid properties- given that gas central heating 
is currently more favourable for the EPC as 

Page 85



opposed to storage heating.

Rural areas as a whole will find a band C 
extremely challenging – in part due to accessing a 
contractor that has the relevant accreditation 
required for energy efficiency improvements.

There will be situations where reaching an EPC 
band C is impossible despite grant and loan 
funding that is available – there needs to be an 
appreciation of these types of property.

3. Do you think we should allow 
for situations where a longer 
period for improvement is 
allowed? Please explain your 
answer, giving examples. 

If the EPC band C is to be taking into account, 
then there needs to be robust regulation in place 
for example, to not allow properties to be sold or 
rented before they meet these conditions as far as 
reasonably practicable. 

If this approach isn’t taken, then longer periods for 
measures such as EWI should be considered; and 
if roof repairs/maintenance is an issue holding the 
energy efficiency improvement (PV/solar Thermal) 
back, then consideration of funding and time 
needs to be given in order to progress it. 

4. We are proposing that the 
definition of a cost-effective 
measure is that it should pay 
back over its lifetime.  What 
are your views on this 
definition? 

It needs to be clear what is defined as “lifetime”.  If 
the meaning of it in this context is the guarantee 
which the energy efficiency measure has then it 
would seem reasonable. 

Clarity is also required for how the payback will be 
calculated.  Will this be based on the EPC 
payback/savings section?  If so, this would have to 
be tailored to each building.  This would also be 
considered as an issue for rural/island areas 
where a rural premium is not accounted for within 
EPC costing.

Both these issues have implications for the 
progression of this proposal. 

The theory behind it is reasonable, however for 
low income households that may not be in fuel 
poverty, it will be challenging to try and assist them 
to take up loans for energy efficiency 
improvements. 

5. What are your views on the 
issue of air quality in relation 
to the long term domestic 
standard?

There will be cases particularly in older properties, 
where insulating the property will not address 
issues such as damp, which contributes to poor air 
quality and health issues (e.g. asthma).  For 
example, concrete pointing on a traditional stone 
built property.  These cases will need to be 
considered and addressed.

Over insulating (for example loft insulation where 
foil backed materials have been installed) can lead 
to serious condensation issues for the roof 
timbers; and will need to be balanced with 

Page 86



appropriate ventilation.  The ventilation and 
breathability of the building itself is as important as 
air quality in the building. 

6. The EPC rating of a property 
can be affected by changes 
to the underlying 
methodology data and to fuel 
price data.  How do you 
suggest that the programme 
takes account of this in 
setting the long term 
domestic standard?

To enforce the standard, the latest EPC should be 
utilised in order to make it easier for householders 
and landlords.  

7. What are your views on the 
proposal that all PRS 
properties meet EPC Energy 
Efficiency Rating Band C by 
2030?

The proposal is again challenging, and will be 
difficult to achieve.  The consultation states an 
EPC band E by 2020, Band D 2025, and Band C 
by 2030.  It would be fairer and sensible to not 
propose a staggered approach, but identify that 
properties will have to reach a band C by 2030, 
therefore allowing for ten years to plan 
improvements and stagger the costs.  For 
example, a landlord may erect scaffolding for EWI 
before 2025 – ensuring the property meets a band 
D – but then is required to fit Solar PV to the roof 
(requiring more scaffolding) and is a duplicated 
cost.  There also needs to be an incentive to the 
landlord, as well as some form of assistance aside 
from a loan.  

There may be unintended consequences through 
this.  Landlords may seek to turn their properties 
into holiday lets – therefore not requiring any 
further improvements.  Landlords may increase 
rents – which won’t assist with levels of fuel 
poverty.  Landlords may also sell their property 
due to this high standard – the implication could be 
that the tenant becomes homeless, putting an 
additional strain on the homeless service.  This 
could lead to a surge in empty properties/holiday 
lets which is already affecting communities – 
particularly in remote rural locations. 

Although the proposal is ambitious and ultimately 
will effect carbon emissions and fuel poverty 
levels, there will either have to be robust regulation 
in place or a reduction in requirements for the 
PRS.  

8. What are your views on our 
proposal for an initial period 
of encouraging action?

It needs to be transparent whether or not this will 
be mandatory.  It would be sensible to inform 
householders that they will have a duty to improve 
the energy efficiency of their property to 
reasonable levels (whether this a C or where 
technically feasible and cost effective) to ensure 
that householders can take advantage of grant 
funding that is currently available through fuel 
poverty; area based; and loan schemes.  

The schemes limited by area basis and 

Page 87



constrained by eligibility criteria may need to be 
more flexible (for example, the equity loan scheme 
pilot) to provide as many different avenues for 
householders as possible. This would encourage 
householders to take up offers like this to ensure 
that they can meet these conditions where 
technically feasible and cost effective. 

9. What information would be 
useful for householders to 
access on how to achieve 
EPC Energy Efficiency 
Rating Band C before 2030?

The issue presented is how to determine what is 
technically feasible and what is cost effective. 

For example, the EPC states for solid wall 
properties made of sandstone that EWI is 
applicable; whereas a more cost 
effective/technically feasible and sensible solution 
would be IWI.  The EPC also identifies renewables 
such as Solar PV/Wind turbines as suitable 
measures for properties; whereas rural and island 
areas will not have access to accredited MCS 
installers that would cost-effectively install these 
measures.  

In short, the cost effective data and feasibility data 
would be essential in the process of identifying 
measures which can be installed. Additionally, 
availability of installers will be required as part of 
the process. 

10. What are your views on our 
proposal to follow this initial 
period with mandating 
action?

As explained in question 8, there needs to be 
clarity to householders from the start regarding 
whether this will be a mandatory action or not. The 
resource for this will have to accompany 
mandatory actions and assistance, whether this is 
through grants or loans.  Financial penalties will 
require robust regulation; and agree that the 
change in ownership is a sensible approach in 
terms of improving energy efficiency.  There may 
be issues for families that inherit homes and wish 
to sell them on – a flexible and straightforward 
equity loan would enable these families to meet 
any mandatory actions. 

11. What are you views on our 
proposal that 2030 is the 
right point to start mandating 
action to achieve EPC 
Energy Efficiency Rating 
Band C?

As stated in question 8 and 11, mandatory action 
should be clear from the start of the process. If the 
is an EPC band C by 2040 then put robust 
regulation in place to ensure that this is met and 
adhered to.  Householders need to be made 
aware of these significant changes to their homes; 
and what this means for them - so that they can 
plan technically feasible and cost-effective 
solutions for their properties.  

12. What are your views on our 
proposal for owner occupied 
properties to be subject to 
penalties for non-
compliance?

It seems like a sensible approach, but will require 
robust regulations and suitable powers to be able 
to be enforced – however there needs to be an 
appreciation for homeowners not necessarily fuel 
poor but unable to afford improvements. 

Energy efficiency/repair/maintenance of a property 
needs to be seen as a priority for householders – 
which it currently isn’t.  

Page 88



13. What are your views on 
requiring all types of 
accommodation to meet the 
Long Term Domestic 
Standard over time?  Please 
explain your answer, giving 
examples of accommodation 
you think should/should not 
be required to meet the 
Long-Term Domestic 
Standard if relevant? 

As highlighted in question 7, if holiday homes are 
not required to meet energy efficiency standards, 
then there is the opportunity for landlords to 
designate their properties as holiday lets – leading 
to no energy efficiency improvements. 

Some form of standard energy efficiency 
requirement needs to be identified – regardless of 
tenure/use – which is technically and cost 
effectively feasible (whether this is a Band E or 
Band D). 

14. Please provide your views on 
our proposal that all homes 
with fuel poor households are 
to reach EPC Energy 
Efficiency Rating Band C by 
2030, where technically 
feasible and cost effective?

The fuel poor household standard is extremely 
flawed.  It is well documented that householders 
can fluctuate in and out of fuel poverty.  

For example, if a householder is working but is 
close to retiring, the householder is not in fuel 
poverty and must reach a band C by 2040.  If 
however the householder retires, the income levels 
for the home drops and the householder 
subsequently falls into fuel poverty.  The 
householder then has to reach a band B.  
However, the retired householder can then get a 
part time job, which raises the household income 
enough to ensure they are no longer in fuel 
poverty; and the householder then has an EPC 
banding of C to reach. 

There is also the issue where householders off 
gas grid will have measures that are not 
technically feasible or cost effective, meaning they 
will not meet the EPC band C.  Nevertheless, 
these householders are the ones more likely to be 
in fuel poverty due to a lack of access to the gas 
grid.  Therefore, regardless of the regulations in 
place, the householder will still be in fuel poverty, 
which hasn’t solved the issue.  

One standard banding should be encouraged – 
with additional financial support provided to the 
householder that needs it.  The issue of rural, 
remote, and island areas still needs to be 
addressed; as well as the issues related to 
householders in conservation areas.

For example, a householder living in a detached 
pre 1919 stone built property in Port Wemyss on 
the Isle of Islay, with no access to mains gas and 
electrically heating their property (whilst also being 
in a conservation area) will be almost 
disadvantaged by this proposal.  The cost 
effectiveness of measures may mean that given 
the island location it’s not applicable.  The 
conservation restraints will mean that some 
measures will not be granted planning approval.  

Page 89



The householder will still have a relatively low EPC 
score, still be in fuel poverty, despite still having to 
try and achieve a band C by 2030 and band B by 
2040. 

Regardless of fuel poverty or not, householders in 
these areas will require substantial funding to get 
their EPC up to a suitable standard. 

15. Please provide your views on 
our proposal that all homes 
with fuel poor households are 
to reach EPC Energy 
Efficiency Rating Band B by 
2040, where technically 
feasible, cost effective and 
possible within limits 
affordable to the public 
purse?

Please see above question 14.

16. In addition to what we have 
set out in paras 46-50, what 
should the Energy Efficient 
Scotland Assessment Short 
Life Working Group also 
consider? Please  explain 
your answer. 

There should be an emphasis on traditional 
features being included as part of the EPC 
process.  Additional consideration should be given 
to technical and feasible measures only – and 
opportunity to link this with affordability data. . 

17. What are your views on 
whether the long term 
domestic standard should be 
enforced at a local or national 
level?  Please explain your 
answer. 

If the standard is to be enforced locally, then Local 
Authorities will require additional resources and 
robust regulation to enforce these standards.  If 
neither of these can be provided, then it should be 
enforced nationally. 

18. Are there specific building 
characteristics you consider 
should be included in 
research to ensure that 
future improvement targets 
reflect the diverse nature of 
our non-domestic building 
stock?  If so, please set out 
what these are and why they 
should be considered. 

n/a

19. What are your views on the 
way calculated energy use 
from building assessments 
are presented and/or 
benchmarked?  We are 
particularly interested in what 
arrangements you favour and 
how you think they would be 
useful. 

n/a

20. What are your views on the 
proposed planned works to 
review improvement targets?

n/a

Page 90



21. What are your views on our 
proposals for phasing the 
regulations from 2020?

n/a

22. Should advice and support to 
invest in the energy efficiency 
of industrial or manufacturing 
buildings align with wider 
advice and support on how to 
reduce energy consumed for 
productive processes?  If so, 
please suggest how 
improving efficiency in 
building and “process” 
energy could work together, 
and what opportunities and 
challenges this might 
present?

n/a

23. What more could the Scottish 
Government do to encourage 
the public sector to 
accelerate energy efficiency 
across their building stock? 

n/a

24. What more could the Scottish 
Government do to encourage 
the public sector to 
accelerate heat 
decarbonisation across their 
building stock? 

n/a

25. What additional data would 
help building owners in the 
delivery of the Energy 
Efficient Scotland 
Programme?  How would this 
be used?

In terms of domestic data – as stated previously – 
appreciation for traditional measures should be 
used; appreciation of closest MCS/Accredited 
installers used; realistic paybacks given a rural 
premium; realistic costs.  This would be used to 
identify where measures may be technically not 
feasible or not cost-effective.

26. What additional data would 
be helpful to others in the 
delivery of the Energy 
Efficient Scotland 
Programme?  How would this 
be used? 

Please see question 25.

27. We will investigate the 
benefit in providing new 
online resources or tools to 
support building owners to 
access and use data to help 
them improve their 
properties.  What particular 
types of resources or tools 
would you find useful and 
why?

An EPC estimation tool with the benefit of adding 
and removing energy efficiency improvements 
would greatly assist if these regulations are to be 
enforced.  Indications over whether the measure is 
technically feasible or whether it is cost effective 
should be included in this tool along with guidance 
and assistance. 

If the standard is to be used, this gives 
householders a general idea of what they will 
require to do, whether it’s technically feasible or 
not, and if there’s any assistance that’s available. 

28. In addition to the above, we 
welcome any specific 
comments or observations 
you may have on the future 

It will by and large further highlight the issues 
which rural, island and off gas grid areas face; and 
hopefully will lead to further funding and innovative 
measures that can be comparable/cost effective 

Page 91



use of the data that is 
gathered from energy 
assessments.

against heating options such as gas. 

29. What are your views on the 
implementation and 
enforcement of existing 
legislation relating to energy 
efficiency and heating of 
buildings in Scotland?

No comment. 

30. What changes may be 
needed (if any) to this 
existing legislation, to ensure 
that the Scottish 
Government, Local 
Authorities, and any other 
relevant bodies or persons, 
have the powers and duties 
necessary to support the 
Energy Efficient Scotland 
Programme?

There needs to be robust regulations and 
enforceable regulations in order to ensure it is 
taken seriously.  There needs to be leadership for 
this issue, and provide the enforcing body with 
either financial penalties or ensure households 
cannot be let/sold without meeting these 
conditions.  If the regulations on energy efficiency 
standards are not robust enough/not enforceable 
then meeting these standards will be difficult. 

31. What other elements of the 
programme may require new 
or amended legislation to 
enable the Energy Efficient 
Scotland Programme to 
operate? 

Please see question 30.

32. Which organisation(s) should 
be responsible for delivering 
any new legal requirement?

If the organisation is a local authority, then further 
resources will be required in order to legitimately 
enforce the regulations. 

Page 92


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Argyll and the Islands Strategic Group held on 29 May 2018
	Minutes

	4 Scottish Government - Draft Description of Island Liaisons Partners
	8 Transport Scotland's Vessel Replacement and Deployment Plan - Annual Report 2016
	Vessel Replacement and Deployment Plan - 2

	9 Our Island Waste
	10 Fuel Poverty (Target, Definition and Strategy) (Scotland) Bill

